THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable Marvin H. Dukes, III, Special Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2016-001899
Case No. 2016-CP-07-1778

A&B Associates, L.P. [redacted] /Respondent,

v.

FCRE REL, LLC, and TIDELAND REALTY, INC. Defendants,

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in issuing the Injunction Order because it failed to properly consider the three injunction elements: (1) irreparable harm; (2) likelihood of success on the merits; and (3) no adequate remedy at law?
- II. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in issuing the Contempt Order because the underlying Injunction Order lacked adequate specificity?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Procedural History

On August 15, 2016, Plaintiff A&B Associates, L.P. (“A&B”) filed the Verified Summons and Complaint (the “Complaint”). On that same date, the trial court issued the Ex Parte Temporary Restraining Order (the “TRO”). Also on August 15, 2016, A&B filed the Notice of Motion and Motion for Temporary Injunction and Notice of Hearing.

On August 16, 2016, Defendant FCRE REL, LLC (“FCRE”) filed a Notice of Motion and Motion to Vacate Ex Parte Temporary Restraining Order (the “Motion to Vacate”). In support of the Motion to Vacate, on August 16, 2016, FCRE filed the Affidavits of Mary F. Davenport and Nichole Kim. The trial court denied the Motion to Vacate without a written order.

On August 22, 2016, FCRE filed Defendant’s Brief in Opposition to Plaintiff’s Application for a Temporary Injunction. On August 24, 2016, A&B filed the Memorandum in Support of Motion for Temporary Injunction, along with the Affidavits of Christopher Kettles, Sharan Kettles, Traci Oates, Sheytoria Rivers, and Sabania Norris, which were signed and attested to between August 20th and August 23, 2016.

On August 24, 2016, the trial court conducted the hearing on the Motion for Temporary Injunction (the “Injunction Hearing”). At the conclusion of the hearing, the trial court granted the temporary injunction. On August 26, 2016, the trial court issued and filed the Order Granting Temporary Injunction (the “Injunction Order”).

On September 6, 2016, FCRE and Defendant Tideland Realty, Inc. (“Tideland”) filed the Answer, Counter-Claims, and Third Party Complaint (the “Answer”).

On September 9, 2016, A&B filed a Motion for Contempt, alleging that FCRE violated the Injunction Order. In conjunction with the Motion for Contempt, A&B filed the Affidavits of Timothy J. Granitz, Curtis L. Coltrane, Christopher Kettles, and Sharan Kettles.

On September 12, 2016, FCRE filed a Notice of Appeal of the Injunction Order.

On September 15, 2016, FCRE filed a Brief in Opposition to the Motion for Contempt. On that same date, FCRE filed the Affidavits of Mary F. Davenport, Jami Rankin, Benjamin T. Coppage, and Brian White.

On September 16, 2016, the trial court conducted the hearing on the Motion for Contempt. At the conclusion of the hearing, the trial court granted the Motion for Contempt. On September 23, 2016, the trial court issued and filed the Order Granting Motion for Contempt (the "Contempt Order").

On October 20, 2016, FCRE filed a Notice of Appeal of the Contempt Order. The appeals of the Injunction Order and the Contempt Order are consolidated under Appellate Case No. 2016-001899.

II. Statement of the Facts

FCRE, a Delaware limited liability company, is a commercial real estate lender. *See Answer* (R. pp. 110, 118). FCRE is in the business of originating loans for Commercial Mortgage-Backed Securities ("CMBS") transactions. *See Response to Motion for Contempt*, (R. p. 189). A&B is a Georgia Limited Partnership that owns a residential rental property located at 2208 Southside Boulevard Port Royal, South Carolina (the "Property"). *See Complaint*, (R. pp. 3-4). A&B's general partner is AGBP, Inc., the president of which is L. Christopher Kettles ("Kettles"). *See Complaint*, (R. p. 4).

On February 18, 2015, A&B, as the borrower, and Kettles, as the sponsor, submitted an application for a loan to refinance existing first mortgage debt on the Property. *See Answer*, (R. p. 118). In conjunction with FCRE's standard due diligence, specific documents and certification from the borrower and sponsor were required. *See Answer*, (R. pp. 118-119). As part of the document submission package, A&B provided written confirmation that: (1) thirteen of the apartments at the Property were leased by tenants receiving housing assistance payments from the Beaufort Housing Authority ("BHA"), a self-governing public agency created by South Carolina state and local laws; (2) it was A&B's intention not to renew those tenants' leases; and (3) it was A&B's intention not to lease additional apartments to tenants receiving such governmental assistance. *See FCRE's Brief in Opposition to A&B's Application for Temporary Injunction ("Brief in Opposition to Injunction")*, (R. p. 45); *Answer*, (R. p. 119). In addition, A&B provided FCRE with a then-current rent roll and property operating statements which were certified by Kettles to be true and accurate. *See Answer*, (R. p. 119). Upon FCRE's review of these statements, other verbal and written certified statements provided by A&B, as well as other loan due diligence documentation regarding the Property and A&B, FCRE and A&B entered into a Loan Agreement on April 15, 2015, for the provision of first mortgage financing to A&B in the amount of three million nine hundred thousand dollars (\$3,900,000.00). *See Brief in Opposition to Injunction*, (R. p. 45); *Answer*, (R. pp. 118-121). In connection with the funding of that loan, and in addition to the Loan Agreement, A&B also executed a Promissory Note, Guaranty of Recourse Obligations and Environmental Indemnity Agreement, and Mortgage, Assignment of Leases and Rents, Security Agreement and Fixture Filing, and an Assignment and Subordination of Management Agreement

(hereinafter these documents and the Loan Agreement are collectively referred to as the “Loan Documents”). *See* Brief in Opposition to Injunction, (R. p. 45); Answer, (R. p. 121). A&B was represented by experienced legal counsel relating to all aspects of the transaction and all of the Loan Documents. *See* Brief in Opposition to Injunction, (R. pp. 44-56).

In executing the Mortgage, Assignment of Leases and Rents, Security Agreement and Fixture Filing (hereinafter “Mortgage”), A&B absolutely and unconditionally assigned to FCRE all of A&B’s right, title, and interest to do all other things which A&B or any lessor was or may become entitled to do under the Leases or the Lease Guaranties, as defined in the Mortgage. *See* Brief in Opposition to Injunction, (R. p. 46); Response to Motion for Contempt, (R. p. 190). Pursuant to the Mortgage, A&B also granted FCRE an irrevocable power of attorney coupled with an interest for the purpose of exercising and perfecting any and all rights and remedies available to Lender at law and in equity. *See* Brief in Opposition to Injunction, (R. p. 46); Response to Motion for Contempt, (R. p. 190). These same provisions were contained in loan documents executed by A&B in connection with two previous mortgage loans. *See* Response to Motion for Contempt, (R. p. 190); Davenport Aff., dated September 14, 2016, (R. p. 202). A&B granted FCRE the ability, under an event of default, to do those things necessary to protect the Property, including entry upon the Property. *See* Brief in Opposition to Injunction, (R. p. 46). Even in the absence of an event of default, A&B gave FCRE the right to enter on the Property:

without liability for trespass, damages or otherwise and exclude [A&B] and its agents or servants wholly therefrom, and take possession of all books, records and accounts relating thereto and [A&B] agree[d] to surrender possession of the Property and of such books, records and accounts to Lender upon demand, and thereupon [FCRE] may (i) use, operate, manage, control, insure, maintain, repair, restore and otherwise deal with all and every part of the Property and conduct the business thereon; (ii) complete any construction on the Property in such manner and form as Lender deems

advisable; (iii) make alterations, additions, renewals, replacements and improvements to or on the Property; (iv) exercise all rights and powers of [A&B] with respect to the Property, whether in the name of [A&B] or otherwise, including, without limitation, the right to make, cancel, enforce or modify Leases, obtain and evict tenants, and demand, sue for, collect and receive all Rents of the Property and every part thereof; (v) require [A&B] to pay monthly in advance to [FCRE], or any receiver appointed to collect the Rents, the fair and reasonable rental value for the use and occupation of such part of the Property as may be occupied by [A&B]; [and] (vi) require [A&B] to vacate and surrender possession of the Property to [FCRE]

See Response to Motion for Contempt, (R. pp. 190-191).

In Section 1.2 of the Mortgage, A&B absolutely and unconditionally assigned all of its right, title and interest in and to all current and future Leases and Rents and all rights, powers, privileges, options and other benefits of A&B as lessor under the Leases and beneficiary under the Lease Guaranties, including without limitation the immediate and continuing right to make claim for, receive, collect and receipt for all rents payable or receivable under the Leases. *See* Response to Motion for Contempt, (R. p. 191). Under Section 1.2, FCRE granted to A&B “a revocable license to collect, receive, use and enjoy the Rents.” *See* Response to Motion for Contempt, (R. p. 191). Pursuant to Section 7.1(h) of the Mortgage, that license was immediately and automatically revoked upon A&B’s default under the provisions of the Loan Documents. *See* Response to Motion for Contempt, (R. p. 191). Under that section, with or without an event of default, FCRE is immediately entitled to possession of all rents and sums due under or arising from the Property and could:

apply the receipts from the Property to the payment of the Debt, in such order, priority and proportions as [FCRE] shall deem appropriate in its sole discretion after deducting therefrom all expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees) incurred in connection with the aforesaid operations and all amounts necessary to pay the Taxes, Other Charges, insurance and other expenses in connection with the Property, as well as just and reasonable

compensation for the services of [FCRE], its counsel, agents and employees.

See Response to Motion for Contempt, (R. p. 191). The “Debt,” as referred to in the foregoing sentence, is defined as “the outstanding principal amount of the Loan together with all interest accrued and unpaid thereon and all other sums . . . owing to [FCRE] in respect of the Loan under the Note, this Agreement, the Mortgage or any other Loan Document.” *See* Response to Motion for Contempt, (R. pp. 191-192).

The Assignment of Management Agreement and Subordination of Management Fees (hereinafter “Management Assignment”) unconditionally transferred, set over, and assigned to FCRE all of A&B’s right, title and interest in and to a Management Agreement with the August Group, Inc. (hereinafter “August Group”) under which A&B employed August Group to exclusively rent, lease, operate and manage the Property. *See* Brief in Opposition to Injunction, (R. p. 49); Response to Motion for Contempt, (R. p. 190). The Management Assignment provided that, upon an event of default by A&B under any of the Loan Documents, FCRE would be entitled to terminate the Management Agreement and require August Group to transfer its responsibility for the management of the Property to a management company selected by FCRE. *See* Brief in Opposition to Injunction, (R. p. 49); Answer, (R. p. 125); Response to Motion for Contempt, (R. p. 190).

In addition, the Loan Agreement grants FCRE the right to perform any act as may be appropriate to cause all the material terms, covenants, and conditions of the Management Agreement to be performed and observed. *See* Response to Motion for Contempt, (R. p. 192). A&B granted an irrevocable power of attorney to FCRE to exercise and perfect any and all rights and remedies available to FCRE under the Loan Documents and at law and equity, including without limitation such rights and remedies available to

FCRE pursuant to Sections 10.2, 10.3, and 10.4 of the Loan Agreement. *See* Brief in Opposition to Injunction, (R. p. 46); Response to Motion for Contempt, (R. p. 194). Section 10.3 of the Loan Agreement provides that FCRE is authorized to enter upon the Property, make, do, or perform any obligation of A&B under the Loan Agreement. *See* Brief in Opposition to Injunction, (R. p. 46); Response to Motion for Contempt, (R. p. 192).

The Loan Agreement also requires the establishment of a clearing account. *See* Answer, (R. pp. 132-133). Section 2.6 of the Loan Agreement states that “Borrower shall establish and maintain a segregated Eligible Account (the “Clearing Account”) with the Clearing Bank in trust for the benefit of Lender, which Clearing Account shall be under the sole dominion and control of Lender.” *See* Response to Motion for Contempt, (R. p. 192). It also states that “during any Cash Management Period, Lender shall cause the Clearing Bank to transfer to the Deposit Account in immediately available funds by federal wire transfer all amounts on deposit in the Clearing Account once every Business Day.” *See* Response to Motion for Contempt, (R. p. 192). A Cash Management Period is “the period commencing with a Lockbox Trigger Event and terminating upon the applicable Lockbox Trigger Event Cure, if any.” *See* Response to Motion for Contempt, (R. p. 192). An event of default is a Lockbox Trigger Event. *See* Response to Motion for Contempt, (R. p. 192).

Also in the Loan Agreement, the parties agreed that, for so long as any Event of Default occurs and continues, the outstanding principal balance of the Loan shall accrue interest at the Default Rate, calculated from the date such payment was due without regard to any grace or cure periods. *See* Response to Motion for Contempt, (R. p. 192).

A. Causes Leading to the Issuance of a Notice of Default

1. A&B failed to make two of the first four monthly payments in a timely manner.

On or about July 6, 2015, FCRE was advised by its loan servicer, Midland Loan Services (“Midland”), that A&B did not make the required second monthly payment. *See Answer, (R. p. 121)*. Further, on or about September 6, 2015, FCRE was advised by Midland that A&B did not make the required fourth monthly payment. *See Answer, (R. p. 122)*. In both instances, FCRE contacted A&B to advise that monthly payments were to be made in a timely manner, and prior to or on the due date of the 6th of the month. *See Answer, (R. pp. 121-122)*. In support of FCRE’s claims that A&B never intended to fulfill its contractual obligations under the Loan Documents, A&B contacted Midland on January 29, 2016, without FCRE’s knowledge or consent, and attempted to have the payment due date changed. *See Answer, (R. p. 122)*.

2. A&B failed to maintain proper security at the Property to ensure tenant safety.

On or about October 27, 2015, FCRE became aware that one of the occupants residing at the Property had been shot while in his apartment unit at the Property. *See Answer, p. 13*. FCRE immediately contacted Kettles to inquire about the safety of the tenants and whether any measures were being taken to ensure their safety and the protection of the Property. *See Answer, (R. p. 122)*. Kettles replied that the shooting had been a random incident, that the Port Royal Police Department had saturated the Property, that the Property was one of the least crime affected complexes in Port Royal and Beaufort County, and that the Property was not located in a high-crime area. *See Answer, (R. p. 122)*; Brief in Opposition to Injunction, (R. p. 46). Despite these assurances, FCRE continued to

contact Kettles and other agents of A&B, including representatives of August Group, regarding the safety of the Property. *See Answer*, (R. p. 122); Davenport Affidavits, dated August 16, 2016 (R. pp. 37-39) and September 14, 2016 (R. pp. 200-204).

Though FCRE requested that A&B provide proof that action had been or was being taken to ensure the safety of the tenants and the Property, A&B failed to offer any such proof. *See Answer*, (R. pp. 122-123); Davenport Affidavits, dated August 16 (R. pp. 37-39) and September 14, 2016 (R. pp. 200-204). Therefore, on December 8, 2015, FCRE's Executive Vice President, Mary F. Davenport, and Senior Vice President, Nichole Kim, visited the Property and met with Sharan Kettles and Amanda Pett, agents of August Group. *See Answer*, (R. p. 122); Davenport Aff., dated August 16, 2016 (R. pp. 37-39). The on-site visit revealed that no measures had been taken to ensure the safety of the tenants or the Property. *See Answer*, (R. p. 123); Davenport Aff., dated August 16, 2016 (R. pp. 37-39). It also became obvious that A&B had allowed the condition of the Property to significantly deteriorate in the eight months subsequent to the funding of the loan. *See Answer*, (R. p. 123); Davenport Affidavits, dated August 16 (R. pp. 37-39) and September 14, 2016 (R. pp. 200-204).

In addition to the property site visit and interview of the August Group agents, on December 8, 2015, Ms. Davenport and Ms. Kim met with Captain John Griffith of the Port Royal Police Department to discuss the safety concerns. *See Brief in Opposition to Injunction*, (R. p. 47); *Answer*, (R. p. 123). Captain Griffith provided reports that revealed the Property was located in a high-crime area and that a great deal of criminal activity occurred on the Property. *See Brief in Opposition to Injunction*, (R. p. 47); *Answer*, (R. p. 123). These reports further showed that the crime level at the Property had not abated since

FCRE's funding of the loan to A&B or since A&B's contact with Kettles following the shooting. *See* Brief in Opposition to Injunction, (R. p. 47); Answer, (R. p. 123).

3. A&B failed to engage a properly licensed management company.

Concurrent with this visit, FCRE learned that August Group did not have properly licensed agents, including but not limited to Sharan Kettles and Amanda Pett, under the South Carolina Real Estate Commission regulations representing it, and was therefore not properly qualified to act as a property manager in the state of South Carolina. *See* Brief in Opposition to Injunction, (R. p. 47); Answer, (R. p. 123).

4. A&B's continued failure to correct property and security deficiencies, as well as engage a properly licensed management company.

On December 21, 2015, FCRE contacted Kettles, letting him know that A&B's failure to make the Property safe for tenants and failure to prevent the deterioration of the Property were violations of provisions of the Loan Documents. *See* Answer, (R. p. 123); Davenport Aff., dated August 16, 2016 (R. pp. 37-39). FCRE suggested steps that could be taken to avoid default under those provisions. *See* Answer, (R. p. 123); Davenport Aff., dated August 16, 2016 (R. pp. 37-39). Kettles responded by arguing that A&B had no duty to make the Property safe for tenants but that he was considering increasing security measures on the Property. *See* Brief in Opposition to Injunction, (R. p. 48); Answer, (R. p. 123). In the months following that contact, FCRE repeatedly reached out to A&B to inquire as to whether measures were being taken to ensure the safety of the Property and prevent its further deterioration. *See* Answer, (R. p. 124); Davenport Affidavits, dated August 16 (R. pp. 37-39) and September 14, 2016 (R. pp. 200-204). A&B's few responses to these inquiries did not confirm that any such measures were being taken but were only statements that A&B was investigating its options regarding security. *See* Answer, p. 15;

Davenport Affidavits, dated August 16 (R. pp. 37-39) and September 14, 2016 (R. pp. 200-204).

5. A&B's continued failure to properly maintain the physical condition of the Property.

On or about May 4, 2016, FCRE received a report of a third party inspection of the Property that noted continued and significant physical waste and deterioration of the Property. *See* Answer, (R. p. 124); Davenport Affidavits, dated August 16 (R. pp. 37-39) and September 14, 2016 (R. pp. 200-204). FCRE contacted A&B and requested confirmation that the waste and deterioration had been or were being corrected. *See* Answer, (R. p. 124); Davenport Affidavits, dated August 16 (R. pp. 37-39) and September 14, 2016 (R. pp. 200-204). FCRE received no response from A&B. *See* Answer, (R. p. 124); Davenport Affidavits, dated August 16 (R. pp. 37-39) and September 14, 2016 (R. pp. 200-204).

6. A&B's failure to provide true and accurate financial reports pertaining to the Property.

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