THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Hon. Marvin H. Dukes, III, Master In Equity and Special Circuit Judge
Appellate Case Number 2016-001899
Case Number 2016-Cp-07-1778

A & B Associates, L. P.,

 Respondent,

vs.

FCRE REL, LLC, and TIDELAND REALTY, INC.,

Defendants,

OF WHOM FCRE, REL, LLC, is the

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Curtis L. Coltrane
COLTRANE & WILKINS, LLC
South Carolina Bar Number 1344
Post Office Box 6808
Hilton Head Island, SC, 29938
(843) 785-5551
curtis@coltraneandwilkins.com

Other Counsel of Record:
Benjamin T. Coppage, Esq.
COPPAGE LAW FIRM, LLC
Post Office Box 2473
Beaufort, SC 29901

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

3. On July 20, 2016, FCRE REL, LLC, with the aid of an officer of the Port Royal Police Department, forcibly removed A & B Associates, L. P., from its real property.⁴⁷

4. On July 20, 2016, FCRE REL, LLC, seized the bank accounts of A & B Associates, L. P., and installed its own agent in the property of A & B Associates, L. P. The agent began collecting rents from the tenants of A & B Associates, L. P.⁴⁸

5. At the time that FCRE REL, LLC, took these actions, it had not filed a case in Beaufort County, South Carolina, or anywhere, to enforce its claimed rights under its note and mortgage. It had not sought or received an order appointing a receiver, or any other order authorizing it to forcibly remove A & B Associates, L. P., from its own property and seize its bank accounts, funds, contracts, leases and other personal property.⁴⁹ The rights of A & B Associates, L. P., were violated without due process or any process.⁵⁰

⁴⁷ August 12, 2016, Verified Complaint. (paragraph 18, R. p. 12.) August 26, 2016, Order Granting Temporary Injunction. (R. 83, paragraph 5.) No mention of FCRE REL, LLC'S, unlawful act is made by it in its Brief. FCRE REL, LLC, offered no evidence before the Hon. Marvin H. Dukes, III, to refute that it did this. *See*: August 16, 2016, Affidavits of Mary F. Davenport and Nichole Kim. (R. pp. 37-39 and 40-41.) In the hearings before the Hon. Marvin H. Dukes, III, FCRE REL, LLC, did not deny that it committed this unlawful act. *See*: Transcripts of Hearings of August 24, 2016, and September 16, 2016. (R. pp. 222-250 and 251-275.)

⁴⁸ August 12, 2016, Verified Complaint. (paragraph 23, R. p. 13.) August 26, 2016, Order Granting Temporary Injunction. (R. p. 83, paragraphs 5, 6 and 7; R. p. 85, paragraph 12(a).)

⁴⁹ South Carolina is a judicial foreclosure state. S. C. Code Ann. § 29-3-10, *et seq.* (Supp. 2016). The extra-judicial actions of FCRE REL, LLC, had no basis in law.

⁵⁰ August 12, 2016, Verified Complaint. (R. pp. 12-13, paragraphs 18, 19 and 20.) August 26, 2016, Order Granting Temporary Injunction. (R. p. 83, paragraph 5.) FCRE REL, LLC, offered no evidence before the Hon. Marvin H. Dukes, III, to refute this fact. *See*: August 16, 2016, Affidavits of Mary F. Davenport and Nichole Kim. (R. pp. 37-39 and 40-41.) In the hearings before the Hon. Marvin H. Dukes, III, FCRE REL, LLC, did not deny that this fact. *See*: Transcripts of Hearings of August 24, 2016 and September 16,

6. Following the forcible removal of A & B Associates, L. P., from its property, FCRE REL, LLC, commenced to make alterations to the property, without the consent of A & B Associates, L. P.⁵¹

7. Following the forcible removal of A & B Associates, L. P., and the seizure of its bank accounts, rents and other money, FCRE REL, LLC, did not use any part of the money to make the debt service payments due under the note and mortgage.⁵²

8. While in possession of the real property of A & B Associates, L. P., FCRE REL, LLC, and its agent made false and defamatory statements to tenants of A & B Associates, L. P., regarding A & B Associates, L. P., and its agents, and took other actions to interfere with the leases between A & B Associates, L. P., and its tenants.⁵³

Based on the above facts, which are supported by the only evidence in the record, Judge Dukes concluded:

1. A & B Associates, L. P., had suffered and would suffer immediate and irreparable harm because, in the absence of a monetary default and without due process, A & B

2016. (R. pp. 222-250 and 251-275.)

⁵¹ August 12, 2016, Verified Complaint. (R. p. 13, paragraphs 26 and 27) August 24, 2016, Order Granting Temporary Injunction. (R. p. 85, paragraph 12(c).)

⁵² August 12, 2016, Verified Complaint. (paragraphs 24 and 25, R. p. 13.) August 26, 2016, Order Granting Temporary Injunction. (R. p. 83, paragraph 6.) FCRE REL, LLC, offered no evidence before Judge Dukes to refute this fact. *See*: August 16, 2016, Affidavits of Mary F. Davenport and Nichole Kim. (R. pp. 37-39 and 40-41.) In the hearings before Judge Dukes, FCRE REL, LLC, did not deny this fact. *See*: Transcripts of Hearings of August 24, 2016 and September 16, 2016. (R. pp. 222-250 and 251-275.)

⁵³ August 19, 2016, Affidavit of Sheyloria Monique Rivers. (R. pp. 78-79.) August 20, 2016, Affidavit of Traci Oates. (R. p. 76.) August 24, 2016, Affidavit of L. Christopher Kettles. (R. p. 70, paragraph 7.)

Associates, L. P.,

- (a) had been forcibly removed from its real property;
- (b) had its bank accounts, money and rents seized; and,
- (c) had its contracts and leases seized.⁵⁴

2. Based on the findings of fact regarding the actions of FCRE REL, LLC, A & B Associates, L. P., met its burden of demonstrating a likelihood of success on the merits.⁵⁵

3. Without a Temporary Injunction, the business of A & B Associates, L. P., would be destroyed, because it was put out of possession of its real property, bank accounts, money, rents, leases and contracts.⁵⁶ These items constitute the entire business of A & B Associates, L. P., which is the ownership, leasing and operation of a residential apartment complex. Since FCRE REL, LLC, failed to apply the money and rents it had seized to the payment of the mortgage debt, FCRE REL, LLC, utilized its seizure of all of assets of A & B Associates, L. P., to cause a monetary default which would further erode A & B Associates, L. P.'s position.⁵⁷

In South Carolina, a preliminary injunction is issued to preserve the *status quo ante*,

⁵⁴ August 26, 2016, Order Granting Temporary Injunction. (R. pp. 85-86, paragraph 12.)

⁵⁵ August 26, 2016, Order Granting Temporary Injunction. (R. p. 86, paragraph 12(g).)

⁵⁶ August 26, 2016, Order Granting Temporary Injunction. (R. pp. 85-86, paragraph 12.)

⁵⁷ The effort of FCRE REL, LLC, to manufacture a monetary default failed because L. Christopher Kettles advanced the money to make the payments. August 12, 2016, Verified Complaint. (R. p. 9, paragraph 8.) August 22, 2016, Affidavit of L. Christopher Kettles. (R. p. 69, paragraph 2.) August 26, 2016, Order Granting Temporary Injunction. (R. p. 83, paragraph 6.)

and only upon a showing by the moving party that without such relief it will suffer irreparable harm, that it has a likelihood of success on the merits, and that there is no adequate remedy at law.⁵⁸ The sole purpose of a temporary injunction is to preserve the *status quo* and thus avoid possible irreparable injury to a party pending litigation.⁵⁹

The August 26, 2016, Order Granting Temporary Injunction includes specific factual findings on the unlawful actions of FCRE REL, LLC, that make a *prima facie* showing with respect to the causes of action alleged by A & B Associates, L. P. The August 26, 2016, Order Granting Temporary Injunction makes specific findings that in the absence of a Temporary Injunction, the actions of FCRE REL, LLC, would destroy the business of A & B Associates, L. P.⁶⁰ The destruction of a business is irreparable harm that is not remedied by the existence of a claim for money damages.⁶¹

⁵⁸ Rule 65, SCRCPP; *Poynter Investments, Inc. v. Century Builders of Piedmont, Inc.*, 387 S.C. 583, 694 S.E.2d 15 (2010).

⁵⁹ *County of Richland v. Simpkins*, 348 S.C. 664, 560 S.E.2d 902 (Ct. App. 2002); *Zabinski v. Bright Acres Associates, et al.*, 346 S.C. 580, 553 S.E.2d 110 (2001).

⁶⁰ FCRE REL, LLC, also argued that Judge Dukes based his Order Granting Temporary Injunction on “the erroneous conclusion that the remedy provisions in the Loan Documents are unenforceable.” *Brief of Appellant*, p. 20. This argument is without merit because: first, no such conclusion appears in the August 26, 2016, Order Granting Temporary Injunction; and, second, FCRE REL, LLC, did not offer its loan documents into evidence. Having failed to make a record on this point, FCRE REL, LLC, has failed to preserve this issue for review.

⁶¹ *Peek v. Spartanburg Regional Healthcare System*, 367 S.C. 450, 626 S.E.2d 34 (Ct.App. 2005). The opinion in *Peek, supra.*, includes the following text:

Other appellate courts have upheld injunctive relief to prevent the loss of a business or business goodwill. *District of Columbia v. E. Trans-Waste of Md., Inc.*, 758 A.2d 1, 15 (D.C.2000) (“While economic loss does not, in and of itself, constitute irreparable harm, such harm will be found if economic loss threatens the very existence of [plaintiff’s] business.”); *Campbell Inns*,

On that point, FCRE REL, LLC, argues that Judge Dukes did not find that A & B Associates, L. P. would “suffer a *complete* loss of business” in the absence of the Temporary Injunction.⁶² To the contrary, that is precisely what Judge Dukes found. The text of the August 26, 2016, Order Granting Temporary Injunction is that FCRE REL, LLC, had deprived A & B Associates, L. P., of its property, money, leases and contracts, and that in the absence of a temporary injunction: “the *status quo* will be irretrievably lost, as the Plaintiff’s business will be destroyed.”⁶³

(a) There is no finding in the August 24, 2016, Order Granting Temporary Injunction that the loan documents are unconscionable.

In its Brief, FCRE REL, LLC, claims that the Hon. Marvin H. Dukes, III, found its loan documents to be unconscionable.⁶⁴ This is untrue, as the text of the August 26, 2016, Order Granting Temporary Injunction includes no such finding.

FCRE REL, LLC’s argument is based on comments made by Judge Dukes during the August 24, 2016, hearing, and not on the text of the August 26, 2016, Order Granting Temporary Injunction. The argument of FCRE REL, LLC, is contrary to the law, which is: comments, or even orders, made by a judge at a hearing are not the ruling. The judge’s

Inc. v. Banholzer, Turnure & Co., 148 Vt. 1, 527 A.2d 1142, 1146 (1987) (“The potential loss of a business satisfies the irreparable harm requirement for the issuance of an injunction.”); *IAC, Ltd. v. Bell Helicopter Textron, Inc.*, 160 S.W.3d 191, 200 (Tex.App. 2005) (“Loss of business goodwill or loss that is not easily calculated in pecuniary terms is sufficient to show irreparable injury for purposes of obtaining a temporary injunction.”).

⁶² *Brief of Appellant*, p 30.

⁶³ August 26, Order Granting Temporary Injunction. (R. p. 86, paragraph 12(e).)

⁶⁴ *Brief of Appellant*, pp. 24-27.

ruling is the written order, and until the written order is entered, the judge is free to change his mind.⁶⁵ An oral order of the court is not final and binding until reduced to writing, signed by the judge, and delivered for recordation.⁶⁶

Because the August 26, 2016, Order Granting Temporary Injunction does not include a finding that the loan documents are unconscionable, FCRE REL, LLC's argument is without merit.⁶⁷

(b) Having failed to make a proffer of excluded evidence at the August 24, 2016, hearing, FCRE REL, LLC, has failed to preserve any issue for appeal.

FCRE REL, LLC, argues that Judge Dukes improperly excluded evidence that it

⁶⁵ *Ford v. State Ethics Commission*, 344 S.C. 642, 646, 545 S.E.2d 821, 823 (2001); *First Union National Bank v. Hitman, Inc.*, 306 S.C. 327, 411 S.E.2d 681 (Ct.App. 1991), *aff'd*, 308 S.C. 421, 418 S.E.2d 545 (1992).

⁶⁶ *Case v. Case*, 243 S.C. 447, 134 S.E.2d 394 (1964); *Brailsford v. Brailsford*, 380 S.C. 443, 451–52, 669 S.E.2d 342, 346 (Ct. App. 2008). FCRE REL, LLC, also argues that the August 26, 2016, Order Granting Temporary Injunction was improper because of “. . . the Trial Court's reliance on bond for title cases. . . .” *Brief of Appellant*, p. 22. Again, FCRE REL, LLC, relies solely on statements made by Judge Dukes at the hearing, and not the text of the August 26, 2016, Order Granting Temporary Injunction. Comments made by a trial judge are not the judge's ruling. The judge's ruling appears in the final written order. *Case v. Case, supra.*; *Brailsford v. Brailsford, supra.*

⁶⁷ In its argument, without any supporting evidence, and in violation of Rule 210(h), SCACR, FCRE REL, LLC, asserts that the loan documents are “standard in all types of mortgage lending.” *Brief of Appellant*, p. 25. First, as FCRE REL, LLC, admits on page 25 of its Brief, it did not offer the loan documents into evidence. Second, the affidavit of Mary F. Davenport relied on by FCRE REL, LLC, to make this argument was not before the Court at the August 24, 2016, hearing. Rather, it was submitted in connection with the September 16, 2016, hearing on the Motion for Contempt. That said, the text from the affidavit relied on by FCRE REL, LLC, is inadmissible speculation, as Ms. Davenport cannot testify as to what A & B Associates, L. P., did or did not know. The loan documents were not attached to Ms. Davenport's affidavit. The documents that Ms. Davenport refers to as “Exhibits A and B” in her affidavit were not attached to the affidavit that was filed and served, and so her testimony regarding them is inadmissible hearsay.

intended to offer at the August 24, 2016, hearing.⁶⁸ However, FCRE REL, LLC, failed to make any proffer, or make any effort to proffer, the evidence.⁶⁹

The failure to make a proffer of proof precludes consideration of the issue of exclusion of evidence on appeal.⁷⁰ A reviewing court may not consider error alleged in the exclusion of testimony unless the record on appeal shows fairly what the rejected testimony

⁶⁸ *Brief of Appellant*, pp. 27-30.

⁶⁹ August 24, 2016, Transcript. (R. pp. 224-249.) In addition to its failure to preserve any issue for review with respect to Judge Dukes' ruling on the procedure for hearing, FCRE REL, LLC, has not shown any error in Judge Dukes' ruling. Motions for Temporary Injunctions and hearings on them are governed by Rule 65, SCRCF. Rule 65(b), SCRCF, reads, in relevant part:

No temporary restraining order shall be granted without notice of motion for the order to the adverse party unless it clearly appears from specific facts shown by affidavit or by a verified complaint that immediate and irreparable injury, loss or damage will result to the applicant before notice can be served and a hearing had thereon.

The filing and service of affidavits in connection with motions to be heard on affidavits is governed by Rule 6(d), SCRCF, which reads, in relevant part:

When a motion is to be supported by affidavit, the affidavit shall be served with the motion; and, except as otherwise provided in Rule 59(c), additional or opposing affidavits may be served not later than two days before the hearing, unless the court permits them to be served at some other time. The moving party may serve reply affidavits at any time before the hearing commences.

The plain language of Rule 65(b), SCRCF, and Rule 6(d), SCRCF, sets out the procedure for a hearing on a motion for Temporary Injunction. FCRE REL, LLC, failed to follow the requirements Rule 65(b) and Rule 6(d), SCRCF, and its effort to sidestep those requirements was correctly denied by Judge Dukes.

⁷⁰ *Carson v. South Carolina Department of Natural Resources*, 371 S.C. 114, 121, 638 S.E.2d 45, 48 (2002).

would have been.⁷¹

(c) The facts as found by Judge Dukes support the conclusion that A & B Associates, L. P., made a *prima facie* showing of a likelihood of success on the merits with respect to its claims.

FCRE REL, LLC, argues that Judge Dukes failed to make specific findings with respect to whether or not A & B Associates, L. P., had made a *prima facie* showing on its claims. To the contrary, the facts as found by Judge Dukes demonstrate that A & B Associates, L. P., made out a *prima facie* showing in support each of cause of action.

1. Breach of Contract. The only evidence in the record is that FCRE REL, LLC, in the absence of a monetary default, and without due process or any process, enlisted the aid of the Town of Port Royal Police Department to forcibly remove A & B Associates, L. P., from its own property, and seized its bank accounts, rents, money, contracts and leases.⁷²
2. Unjust Enrichment. Although involuntary, FCRE REL, LLC, did obtain a benefit from A & B Associates, L. P., through its unlawful seizure of its real and personal property.

⁷¹ *Carson v. South Carolina Department of Natural Resources, supra.* On page 33 its Brief, FCRE REL, LLC, in contravention of Rule 210(h), SCACR, makes statements purporting to describe testimony it now claims would have given by certain witnesses. This is not in the record and was neither presented to Judge Dukes, nor proffered at the August 24, 2016, hearing. Further, FCRE REL, LLC, made no mention of this claim in its August 31, 2016, Motion for Relief from Order Granting Temporary Injunction. (R. pp. 89-91.) FCRE REL, LLC's failure to preserve this issue for review is complete.

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